INTRODUCTION
The Angel Choir of the Cathedral Church of St. Mary in Lincoln is one of the finest examples of the ecclesiastical architecture of thirteenth-century England still standing today. Built in the years between 1256 and 1280 to house the shrine of Bishop Hugh of Avalon, who had...
been made a saint by the Pope in 1220, the Angel Choir, or retro-choir as it is technically known, consists of five bays with triforium and clerestory, and north and south aisles.

The Choir takes its name from a series of carved figures of angels which fill the spandrels of the triforium arches. In all there are twenty-eight angels together with representations of Christ and the Virgin Mary. Today the detail of their workmanship, as with the detail of the carved roof-bosses in the aisles and the choir, is difficult to see from ground level in the absence of suitable lighting, but almost certainly all the sculptures would have originally been painted or gilded and shown up more clearly against their background. Although the Angels and the roof-bosses quite rightly attract much attention, there is an enormous wealth of detailed figure sculpture elsewhere both inside and outside the retro-choir, worthy of investigation by the visitor.

![Image of Lincoln Cathedral Angel Choir from the south-west](image)

The Angel Choir, Lincoln Cathedral from the south-west

One of the best known and most popular figures is the so-called Lincoln Imp, a grotesque figure one foot high at the base of an elaborate leaf corbel which supports the vaulting shafts above the penultimate eastern column on the north side of the choir. In form the Imp is a short, thick-set figure with a shaggy or hairy coat. He sits with his right leg crossed over the left knee, with both hands, which are shown as having three thick fingers, resting on his leg. The face is half-human with stumpy horns and bull's ears projecting from the head. His feet are cloven hooves. The Lincoln Imp depicts a devil.

His situation within a Cathedral has almost inevitably given rise over the years to stories and tales which seek to explain his presence there. Many of them are of comparatively recent origin, and very few of them have any intrinsic interest. One of the more common is as follows:—

“One day, many years ago, the wind being in a playful mood brought two Imps to see Lincoln. The first thing that attracted their attention on drawing near the City, was its magnificent Minster. They were filled with awe and astonishment at so noble a building,
and it caused their hearts to sink within them for a time, but plucking up courage, they flew thither to more closely examine its wonderful carvings and mouldings. After flying around for some hours, one Imp found the south door open and with great trepidation, impishly popped his head inside. Catching sight of the exquisite Angel Choir, he could not resist the temptation of a chat with the angels, so in he hopped, making straight for a pillar. He hopped still higher, but his curiosity cost him dear, for no sooner had he reached the top to rest, than he was in a moment turned to stone. The other Imp, tired of looking for his lost brother, alighted on the back of a witch. He also was immediately turned to stone. The wind still haunts the Minster Close awaiting the return of the Imps."

Grotesque figures of half-human, half-animal form became increasingly popular in the art and architecture of early thirteenth-century England and appear in stone sculpture and woodcarving, manuscript illumination and floor tiles. They were used as a vehicle for caricature and satire, but often simply as decoration without any didactic purpose in mind and serve to demonstrate the extraordinarily versatile imagination of the mediaeval artist. On the north and south sides of the Angel Choir many of the figures in a similar position to the Imp are in fact grotesques, a point often overlooked. They are very varied in form, but some have semi-human attributes. Almost all of them are in a very fine state of preservation, and can be seen to the best advantage with the aid of a pair of binoculars.

The Lincoln Imp does not however stand alone. The thirteenth-century sculptors have also used demons or devils as decorative elements elsewhere in the Angel Choir. Grotesque heads with horns and ears appear on the internal east and south walls within the trefoil and quatrefoil decoration, and on the external east wall. Amongst the relief sculptures decorating the southern entrance devils with cloven hooves and hairy bodies can be seen feeding the Damned into the mouth of Hell. Far above them on top of the buttress to the east of the door another devil often associated with the Imp sits on the back of a female figure, now badly weathered and beyond repair. Today, just as in the Middle Ages, both still serve to remind us, as do their companions, of the Church’s constant battle between the forces of Good and Evil.

EXPLOITATION OF THE LINCOLN IMP

The ‘mediaeval’ legend of the Lincoln Imp was almost certainly revived as a sales gimmick by the Lincoln jeweller and watchmaker James Ward Usher (1845-1921). (See Lincolnshire Museums Information Sheet, Fine and Decorative Arts Series No. 1).

Early guides to the Cathedral from 1808 to 1862 make no mention of the Imp. In Murray’s Handbook to the Cathedrals of England p.293 (published in 1862) reference is made to ‘The grotesque below the second corbel on the north side (counting from the east — it is in the retro-choir) represents an elf with large ears and may perhaps be regarded as illustrating the mediaeval folklore’.

THE POPULARITY OF THE LINCOLN IMP

By 1874 the Imp had gathered some popularity and plaster casts were to be seen in a number of shops. These were probably made by the Lincoln firm of G.A. d’Ascanio Savage c.1895.

Mr. E.A. Taylor, who became Usher’s shop manager in 1911 records:—

‘James Ward Usher an astute business man, had the monopoly of Lincoln Imp jewellery, having registered it and this gave him priority and monopoly for the regulation period of six years. It was a tremendous success and accounted for much business and orders poured in from all over the world. These Imps were made in precious metals and some jewelled, and the writer’s first customer, the day he started with the firm, bought eight diamond-set Imp brooches, and gave orders for many more.’

Mr. E.A. Taylor’s account of James Ward Usher
(Local Collection, Lincoln Library Service)

It was probably some time around the 1880s or 1890s that James Usher went to the trouble of obtaining a Registered Patent design on the Imp, thus preventing any of his opponents in the
trade from making or selling similar items. The jewellery and souvenirs consisted of brooches (Usher Collection 72/18), cuff links, tie pins, spoons and thimbles. The jewellery was often set with precious stones.

A Lincoln Imp brooch with rose diamonds, not fully faceted, in a silver setting on a gold mount
Usher Collection 72/18

A certificate of Registration of Design No. 151149 in the possession of James Usher & Son Ltd., dated 20th June 1890, is a register and design for a Lincoln Imp Spoon. This gave James Ward Usher a copyright of five years.
The sale of Imp jewellery brought Usher considerable business and fame to the extent that such insufficiently addressed letters as 'To the Silversmith who makes and sells Lin-coln Imp' and another with only a sketch of the Imp and the word 'Lincoln' on the envelope, found their way to his business in the High Street.
A gold scarf pin incorporating the Imp is reputed to have been presented to Edward VII when he was Prince of Wales, and according to the account he wore it when his horse 'Persimmon' won the Derby in 1896. The story is also told of Alfred Shuttleworth, the wealthy Lincoln Industrialist who lived at Eastgate House, who when "throwing a party" in the spacious days of the early part of this century made it a custom to give his lady guests a jewelled Imp brooch or some such memento. When the soup was served, the lady guest would remove the cover of her soup dish and there, instead of soup was a jewelled Imp.

Since the early part of this century the Lincoln Imp has appeared in various forms on the handles of brass pokers, toasting forks, table bells, and in Goss china. It still continues to appear on many brass souvenirs today. The quality of these souvenirs has changed markedly over the years from the sumptuous jewellery and the souvenirs which Usher patented. This quality is reflected in the fortune that Usher amassed and his subsequent bequest to the City of Lincoln of his Fine Art Collection and the sum of £59,125.1.4d for the construction of the Usher Gallery. The City of Lincoln owes much to James Ward Usher for his careful selection of this sculptured figure in the Cathedral and its 'mediaeval' legend, as it has greatly promoted the City over the years. The image of the Lincoln Imp is constantly seen throughout the County as it is now the symbol of Lincolnshire County Council.